2016

Neal K. Ostler, Appellants/Plaintiffs, vs. Utah State Retirement Board, Appellees/Defendants.

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF APPELLATE JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63G-4-403, § 49-11-613(7), and § 78A-4-103(2), which confers jurisdiction to review appeals resulting from the final orders of formal adjudicative proceedings of state agencies. This case involves the timely appeal of Neal K. Ostler (“**Ostler**”) from a final order issued by the Utah State Retirement Board (the “**Board**”) on February 18, 2016. The final order was styled as *Undisputed Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order* (hereinafter the “**Board’s Decision**” or “**Final Order**”).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Issue No. 1: Did the Board misinterpret Utah Code Ann. §§ 49-11-501 and 502 when it determined that Ostler forfeited all of his service credits, and therefore was not entitled to any retirement benefits, because he did not re-deposit his member share of his retirement contributions?

The Board’s “application or interpretation of a statute” is a question of law, which is reviewed “under the correction-of-error standard.” *Whitaker v. Utah State Ret. Bd.*, 2008 UT App 282, ¶ 10, 191 P.3d 814. The Court will grant relief only if Ostler was “substantially prejudiced” by the Board’s erroneous interpretation of the law. *See Id.*

Issue No. 2: Did the Board erroneously apply Utah law when it determined Ostler's claim against Salt Lake Community College was barred by the statute of limitations?

Whether the "appropriate statute of limitations period" is correctly applied is a legal question, which is reviewed for correctness. *Utah Dep't of Envtl. Quality v. Redd*, 2002 UT 50, ¶ 12, 48 P.3d 230.

Alternatively, did the Board correctly apply the doctrine of laches in granting summary judgment in favor of Salt Lake Community College?

The application of the doctrine of laches is a question of fact which is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See, e.g., Papanikolas Bros. Enterprises v. Sugar House Shopping Center Associates*, 535 P.2d 1256, 1260 (Utah 1975).

IMPORTANT STATUTES AND RULES

As a supplement to Plaintiffs' Addendum, copies of the following rules and statutes are included in the Addenda attached hereto:

- A. Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 22.
- B. A copy of the Utah State Retirement and Insurance Benefit Act, Utah Code §§ 49-11-101, *et seq.*
- C. A copy of the Board's Decision.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

The Utah State Retirement Systems (the "URS") denied Ostler's claim for pension benefits, which he is owed for service credits earned while he was employed with various

Utah governmental agencies. The URS determined Ostler is not entitled to pension benefits under the Safety Contributory Retirement System (“**Safety System**”), codified at Title 49, Chapter 14 of the Act, because he allegedly forfeited all of his service credits when he took a refund of his member contributions prior to retirement. The URS also determined that Ostler was not entitled to pension benefits under the Noncontributory Retirement System (“**Public System**”), codified at Title 49, Chapter 13 of the Act, because he did not earn the requisite four years of service credits. However, had the Salt Lake Community College (“**SLCC**”) made the required contributions on Ostler’s behalf, he would have had more than four years of service credits under the Public System, and would be entitled to pension benefits under the Public System.

II. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN AGENCY ACTION

1. In or about July 2013, URS denied Ostler’s request to retire under the Safety System and the Public System. [R.000073] Ostler timely appealed to the Board, which appointed Adjudicative Hearing Officer Frank G. Noel (the “**Hearing Officer**”) to conduct an evidentiary hearing and make Recommended Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order. [R.000001]

2. On March 31, 2014, Ostler filed a motion for reconsideration requiring SLCC be joined as a party. [R.000283] SLCC resisted Ostler’s motion, arguing that because the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County dismissed his claim for pension benefits, Ostler’s motion should be denied on the grounds of res judicata and collateral estoppel. [R.000388] The Hearing Officer properly determined that the Third Judicial District Court did not have jurisdiction to determine whether Ostler was entitled

to URS pension benefits pursuant to *Ramsey v. Kane County Human Resource Special Service District*, 2014 UT 5, 322 P.3d 1163. [R.000400]

3. Shortly after the Hearing Officer granted Ostler's motion for reconsideration, on July 22, 2014, SLCC filed a motion for summary judgment seeking to be dismissed from the matter under the theory that Ostler's claims against it was barred by the statute of limitations. [R.000404] The Hearing Officer issued an Order Granting SLCC's Motion for Summary Judgment on September 30, 2014. [R.000546] Ostler was therefore precluded from undertaking any discovery of SLCC's personnel records or policies governing URS benefits.

4. On October 15, 2015, Ostler filed a motion for summary judgment and claimed that, as a matter of law, he is entitled to his vested pension benefits based on his participating employer's contributions in the Safety System. [R.000599] On November 5, 2015, the URS filed a cross motion for summary judgment wherein it opposed Ostler's motion for summary judgment and claimed that, as a matter of law, Ostler is not entitled to pension benefits because he received a refund of his member contributions. [R.000646] A hearing was held on the matter on December 17, 2015. [R.000754] The Hearing Officer issued his Decision on February 9, 2016, and denied Ostler's motion for summary judgment and granted the Board's. [R.000721]

5. On February 9, 2016, the Board issued the Final Order wherein it determined that all claims brought by Ostler had been considered and dismissed and it incorporated the Order Granting SLCC's Motion for Summary Judgment. [R.000733]

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ostler earned service credits in the Safety System while he was employed with the Salt Lake County Sheriff's Office and the Department of Corrections. [R.000725] Under the Safety System, he earned 14.906 years of service credits from the Sheriff's Office and 0.261 years of service credits from the Department of Corrections, for a combined total of 15.167 service credits. [R.000726]

Under the Public System, Ostler earned service credits while employed with the Department of Commerce, Davis Applied Technology, and Salt Lake City Corporation. He earned 1.23 years of service credits from Davis Applied Technology and 0.161 years of service credits from Salt Lake City Corporation. [R.000726]

In or around 1991, Ostler withdrew approximately \$27,000 of his member share of retirement contributions (the "**Refund**") from the Safety System. [R.000727] Ostler did not re-deposit the Refund. [R.000727] The Board provides that Employer Contributions are held in the Public Employees' Contributory Retirement Trust Fund and the Public Safety Contributory Trust Fund (collectively, the "**Trust Funds**"). [R.000727] The Non-Elective Employer Contributions are held in the Public Employee's Noncontributory Retirement Trust Fund. [R.000727] Member Contributions are kept separate from Employer Contributions and the Non-Elective Employer Contributions and are credited by the Office to the account of the individual member. [R.000727] Despite the separation of employer contributions and member contributions, the Board contends that an employee forfeits all of his service credits, and therefore, not entitled to his retirement

allowance, if he receives a refund of his member contributions and fails to re-deposit all of the funds prior to applying for retirement. [R.000729]

From 1992 through 1998, Ostler was employed by SLCC and regularly worked more than 20 hours a week. [R.000488, R.000553] SLCC participates in the Public System. [R.000488] SLCC had a policy at the time of Ostler's employment that any employee who worked more than 20 hours a week qualified to participate in the Public System—which is non-contributory. [R.000488] SLCC did not make contributions to the Public System on Ostler's behalf, notwithstanding Ostler having worked more than the minimum required hours. [R.000489] The Board dismissed Ostler's claims regarding the missed contributions based on its determination that a 3-year statute of limitation period began to run when SLCC missed the contributions, not when Ostler applied for retirement benefits. [R.000548-R.000549]

Ostler filed suit in 1999, in the Third Judicial District Court, seeking, among other things, his pension benefits from SLCC. Ostler's claim was dismissed. The URS Hearing Officer determined – some 14 years later – that the Third Judicial District Court lacked jurisdiction to determine whether Ostler was entitled to URS benefits based on missed SLCC contributions.

Ostler applied for a retirement allowance in or about April 2013. [R.000073] The URS denied his application on the basis that he did not have any service credits after he took the Refund in 1991. [R.000073]

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Utah Legislature adopted the Utah State Retirement and Insurance Benefit Act (the “Act”), “in order to provide a comprehensive system of retirement and health insurance benefits to state and local public employees throughout the State of Utah.” *Ramsay v. Kane Cty. Human Res. Special Serv. Dist.*, 2014 UT 5, ¶ 2, 322 P.3d 1163. Ostler was a public employee who worked for several employers that provided retirement benefits under the Act. For more than 15 years, he and his employers contributed to the Safety System. In 1991, Oster received the Refund. His employers’ contributions, however, remain in the Safety System. Ostler’s application for retirement benefits was denied by the Board under the theory that Ostler forfeited all of his service credits when he took the Refund.

The Board erred when it interpreted Utah Code Ann. §§ 49-11-501 and 502 to mean that a refund of any member contribution results in the loss of all retirement benefits. A plain reading of the Act provides that retirement benefits should be reduced, not eliminated when a member takes a refund of member contributions because the member only forfeits service credits based on the amount of the member contribution refund.

Additionally, the Board erred when it determined Ostler’s claims against SLCC is barred by the statute of limitations. The Board claims that the clock began to tick when Ostler learned that SLCC failed to make contributions on his behalf in the 1990’s when, in fact, the clock should have begun when he applied for retirement in 2013. Ostler attempted to seek relief from the Third Judicial District Court in 1999. It was not until 15

years later that the URS Hearing Officer determined that the District Court lacked jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

A. The Board Erred When It Determined Ostler Was Not Entitled to Pension Benefits

1. The Plain Language of the Act Clearly Shows a Member is Entitled to Employer's Contributions Even if the Member Takes a Refund

The Board's erroneous interpretation of Utah Code Ann. §§ 49-11-501 and 502 has substantially prejudiced Ostler because it resulted in the elimination of his pension benefits. Under the Board's interpretation, a member forfeits all service credits – and therefore, all employer contributions made on his behalf – if the member receives a refund of any member contributions. The plain language of the Act does not support this interpretation. Rather, the member should only forfeit service credits equal to the amount of the refund and should still be entitled to a retirement allowance based on the contributions that remain in the system – whether it be member and employer contributions or employer contributions only.

Under the rules of statutory construction, the court first looks “to the statute’s plain language to determine its meaning.” *Sindt v. Ret. Bd.*, 2007 UT 16, ¶ 8, 157 P.3d 797. There is a presumption “that the terms of a statute are used advisedly by the legislature.” *Id.* “Therefore, effect should be given to each such word, phrase, clause, and sentence where reasonably possible.” *Id.* (citing *Chris & Dick's Lumber & Hardware v. Tax Comm'n*, 791 P.2d 511, 516 (Utah 1990) (Howe, J., dissenting)). To determine the meaning of the plain language, the court examines “the statute in harmony with other

statutes in the same chapter and related chapters.” *McLeod v. Ret. Bd.*, 2011 UT App 190, ¶ 12, 257 P.3d 1090 (internal quotation marks omitted). Further, the Act is to be liberally construed to “provide maximum benefits and protections consistent with sound fiduciary and actuarial principals.” Utah Code Ann. § 49-11-103.

While the Board’s interpretation of the Act is generally entitled to deference, the discretion granted by the legislature is limited. *Sindt*, 2007 UT 16, ¶ 5. According to the Utah Supreme Court, the Board has discretion only if it “provides written documentation which demonstrates that the interpretation or definition promotes uniformity in the administration of the systems or maintains the actuarial soundness of the systems, plans or programs.” *Id.* In addition, “courts will grant deference only if the Board’s interpretation or definition is plausible and consistent with the plain language of the statute.” *Id.* Here, the Board did not provide any competent evidence or written documentation in the record or during the hearing below regarding uniformity or actuarial soundness as required in *Sindt*. As such, the Board’s interpretation of the Act is not entitled to any deference in these appellate proceedings.

In order to qualify for a retirement allowance, a member must be at least 65 years old and have accrued at least four years of service credits. Utah Code Ann. § 49-13-401. The Board misconstrued the definition of “service credit” and “contribution” when it held that Ostler is not entitled to a retirement allowance. A “service credit” accrues when a person is “employed and compensated by a participating employer” and “meets the eligibility requirements for membership in a system . . . provided all required contributions are paid to the office.” § 49-11-401(3). A contribution is defined as “the

total amount paid by the participating employer and the member into the system.” § 49-11-102(15). The Board misconstrued “contribution” to mean that both member and employer contributions are required to earn a service credit in the first place and the service credit is not “earned” if the member takes a refund at a later date—even though the service credit had previously been earned. Under this construction, however, a member of a non-contributory system (where no member contributions are made) would never earn service credits because the member does not make contributions. That construction is not the intent of the Legislature, nor how it is construed by the Board in some context, but not in others. Ostler and his employers contributed to the Safety System over a 15 year period. Therefore, he earned 15 service credits. There is no question that his employers’ contributions remain in the Trust Fund.

Section 501 provides that if a member of the Utah State Retirement system terminates employment with a participating employer for any reason (other than retirement, disability, or death), the member may leave his retirement contributions in the fund or “may receive a refund of the member contributions as provided *under this section*.” Utah Code Ann § 49-11-501(1). (emphasis added). A “member who receives a refund of *member contributions* forfeits the service credit *based on those contributions*.” *Id.* at ¶ (5) (emphasis added). If a members receives a refund, and redeposits the refund as provided in § 49-11-502 prior to his retirement date, the “service credit shall be restored to the member’s account and credited to the same system ... from which the refund was taken.” *Id.* at ¶ (1)(c). However, if a “total redeposit is not made prior to the member’s retirement date ... the member is not entitled to service credit *based on the*

amount of the refund.” *Id.* at ¶ (2)(b) (emphasis added). It is clear from these provisions that the Board’s interpretation is not supported by the Act.

The Board’s interpretation is unreasonable because the Act does not say a member loses all rights to a retirement allowance if he takes a refund and fails to re-deposit the entire amount. Section 501 provides that a member forfeits service credits *based on member contributions*. Section 502 further provides that a “member is not entitled to service credits *based on the amount of the refund.*” In other words, the contributions and the amount of the refund must be taken into account. There is no construction by which the forfeiture language of Sections 501 and 502, read together with the definitions of “service credit” and “contribution”, can be construed to negate the Legislature’s carefully chosen words that forfeiture is based on “*those contributions*” (*i.e.*, member contribution) and that failure to redeposit “*those contributions*” results in the member not receiving “service credit based on the *amount* of the refund.”

In addition, the Board’s construction of the Act creates a gross injustice to similarly situated individuals. For example, if a member takes a \$1000 refund of his member contributions, has 15 years of service credits, but fails to repay the \$1000 prior to retirement, he would forfeit his right to retirement benefits—just as a member who took a \$100,000 refund. Such an uneven application of the Act is inconsistent with the Legislature’s mandate that the Act be “liberally construed to provide maximum benefits,” Utah Code Ann. § 49-11-103(2). The only construction that avoids treating similarly situated individuals differently, is interpreting and reading the plain words of Sections

501 and 502 to mean that forfeiture only applies to the “amount” of “those contributions.”

The employer contributions made on Ostler’s behalf remain in the Trust Fund and the Board should not be able to retain the contributions – that were part of Ostler’s compensation package – based on its erroneous interpretation of the statute. Under the current framework, when a member takes a refund, the employer contributions remain in the Public Safety Contribution Trust Fund. Member and employer contributions are kept in separate accounts. There is no question that employer contributions are still available and could be used to make a retirement allowance. Instead, the contributions are used in actuarial assumptions and calculations to determine the rates and benefits for other members. For every member who forfeits his service credits under the Board’s erroneous interpretation, the required employer and member contributions are thereby reduced. Thus, creating a windfall for employers and other members of the system at the former employees’ expense.

Additionally, the Board’s argument that its interpretation of Sections 501 and 502 is consistent with actuarial soundness is unpersuasive. The Board is responsible to instruct its actuaries to provide funding models based on plan terms. The fact that the Board misconstrued the Act and instructed its actuaries to calculate required contribution amounts based on forfeited employer contributions, which should not have been forfeited in the first place, should have no bearing on whether Ostler is entitled to his employer’s contributions. Ostler should not be harmed because of the Board’s misinterpretation of the Act.

The Board erroneous interpretation has also resulted in an unlawful taking under Article I, Section 22 of the Utah Constitution, which provides “[p]rivate property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation.” Ostler’s compensation package was comprised of wages and benefits. His employer’s contributions to his retirement account was an important benefit, which he earned over 15+ years of public service. The Board has taken his property without just compensation. The Board is also taking it for public use because his employer contributions are being used in actuarial assumptions to decrease required contributions for other members and governmental employers.

When the Act is read and each “word, phrase, clause, and sentence” is given effect, it is clear that a member who receives a refund is still entitled to employer contributions made on his behalf. The member’s retirement allowance should be reduced, but not eliminated. The Board erred when it misinterpreted Sections 501 and 502. Therefore, Ostler should be entitled to a retirement allowance based on his employer’s contributions that remain in the system.

2. Alternatively, the Act is Ambiguous and it Should be Interpreted to Maximize Benefits

In the alternative, Utah Code Ann. §§ 49-11-501 and 502 are ambiguous and should be construed in a manner that maximizes, rather than eliminates, member benefits. A statute is ambiguous when “viewing the act as a whole does not eliminate duplicative yet plausible meanings.” *R & R Indus. Park, L.L.C. v. Utah Prop. & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass’n*, 2008 UT 80, ¶ 26, 199 P.3d 917.

The Act's purpose is to provide retirement benefits for public employees and it "shall be liberally construed to provide maximum benefits and protections consistent with sound fiduciary and actuarial principals." Utah Code Ann. §43-11-103. This language suggests a liberal or broad construction of the statutory scheme, in order to afford maximum protection for members of the various retirement systems administered by the Board. In short, the intent of the legislature in creating the URS seems to suggest that ambiguities in the code language ought to be construed in favor of the member.

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