2016

**Neal K. Ostler, Petitioner, vs. Utah State Retirement Board,
Respondent.**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

2. Ostler Does Not Need Actual Monetary Damages Before His Claim Accrues

Notwithstanding the Retirement Act and his prior request for judicial relief, Ostler asserts his claim did not accrue before retirement because he did not yet have “actual damages.” (Pet. Br. at 17.) Ostler’s argument oversimplifies Utah law. In some cases, damages are the last event necessary to trigger accrual because before that the claim is speculative and not fully formed. *See Huntington*, 2002 UT 75, ¶ 24 (holding claim that shares were improperly reclassified did not accrue until reclassification actually resulted in higher costs); *see also Seale v. Gowans*, 923 P.2d 1361, 1364 (Utah 1996) (cited in *Huntington*) (holding malpractice claim did not accrue when plaintiff learned of misdiagnosis because claim was only speculative until plaintiff suffered actual harm as a result). However, damages are not required to complete a claim in all cases.⁵ A contract claim is remediable when a litigant learns the defendant will not perform, and the litigant does not have the luxury to incur actual damages before the limitations period starts to run. *Clarke v. Living Scriptures, Inc.*, 2005 UT App 225, ¶¶ 12-15, 114 P.3d 602

⁵ Ostler cites *Huntington*, 2002 UT 75, ¶ 24 in support of his assertion. But that case does not state “actual damages” are a necessary prerequisite to accrual. Instead, it states, “[U]nless a statute otherwise provides, *generally* the plaintiff must have suffered damages before a cause of action accrues for statute of limitations purposes. 2002 UT 75, ¶ 24 (emphasis added). The use of the term “generally” expressly recognizes that there are exceptions. *Id.* *Huntington* acknowledges one such exception by citing *Spears v. Warr* as holding a claim accrues at “the point at which a person reasonably should know that he or she *has suffered a legal injury*.” *Id.* (quoting *Spears v. Warr*, 2002 UT 24, ¶ 32, 44 P.3d 742. The better pronouncement of the rule is the one stated earlier in *Huntington* and cited above, “the statute of limitations is not triggered until all of the elements that must be proved at trial under the statute allegedly creating liability on the part of the defendant are existing and may be established.” 2002 UT 75, ¶ 24; *see supra* at 10.

(holding cause of action for breach of employment agreement accrued when defendant notified plaintiff of termination, not when plaintiff's employment actually ended several months later); *Spears v. Warr*, 44 P.3d 742, 754 (Utah 2002) (holding breach of contract claim accrued when plaintiffs were on notice that defendants were not going to perform contractual obligation to provide irrigation water) overruled on other grounds by *Tangren Family Trust v. Tangren*, 2008 UT 20, ¶ 16 n.20, 182 P.3d 326. For example, in *S&G Inc. v. Intermountain Power Agency*, the defendant breached its contract with the plaintiff by refusing to bring a lawsuit against the state engineer. 913 P.2d 735, 737 (Utah 1996). Rather than suing the defendant, the plaintiff filed its own claim against the state engineer, but it was dismissed for lack of standing. *Id.* The plaintiff then sued the defendant, arguing its claim did not fully mature until it lost its case against the state engineer because it could not ascertain its damages prior that point. *Id.* at 738, 740 n.6. The court rejected that argument because, although the damages were not measurable, the plaintiff should have known that an unfavorable ruling in its case with the state engineer would cause the very damages at issue. *Id.*

Importantly, courts have also recognized that actual monetary damages are not necessary to trigger the accrual of statutory claims. *State Insurance Fund. v. Industrial Commission* is particularly instructive. 209 P.2d 558 (Utah 1949). The statute at issue in that case required an employee to demand compensation for an occupational disability within sixty days. *Id.* at 559. The court considered whether the claim accrued when the plaintiff discovered he had a disability or when the employer refused to pay compensation, but determined neither approach was satisfactory. *Id.* at 560. A holding

that a claim accrued at diagnosis meant a plaintiff may not be able to determine the disability was caused by employment within the short limitation period. *Id.* at 560. But a holding that a cause of action did not arise until the employer refused to pay meant the employee could postpone accrual indefinitely by never requesting compensation. *Id.* Thus, the court held that the better rule was that a cause of action accrues when the employee suffers a compensable disability and could by reasonable diligence ascertain that disability. *Id.*

Ostler's claim technically arises in statute, but it is contract-like in that he asserts SLCC owed benefits in exchange for the work he did as an employee. As in *S&G* and *State Insurance*, the Board correctly held that Ostler's claim accrued when he learned SLCC has not performed its alleged duty to make contributions. The lack of contributions meant he did not get service credits—an actual injury. He knew, or reasonably should have known, that those missed credits could ultimately render him ineligible for retirement or, at the very least, reduce the amount of his benefit. He does not get to wait until he actually feels the sting from those lost credits to seek relief. Otherwise, as the Board recognized, he could postpone the accrual of the claim indefinitely. This would not be fair to public employers who may be forced to litigate decades-old claims, however illegitimate, from any number of former employees discovering a shortfall at retirement. It would also contradict the very reason Utah has adopted statutes of limitations, including preventing surprise and the difficulties of litigating old claims. *See Davis v. Provo City Corp.*, 2008 UT 59, ¶ 27, 193 P.3d 86 (recognizing purposes of statutes of limitations as preventing surprise, ambush, or stale

claims and preventing the difficulties caused by lost evidence, faded memories, and disappearing witnesses).

3. The Board's Decision Follows the Better-Reasoned Cases from Other Jurisdictions

The Board's holding follows the same approach as other jurisdictions that have held a claim for retirement contributions accrues when the claimant learns he or she has not received them. *See Jiricek v. Woonsocket Sch. Dist.* #55-4, 489 N.W.2d 348, 349-50 (S.D. 1992) (rejecting argument that cause of action did not accrue until retirement because it would allow claimants to postpone claims indefinitely); *Lane v. Non-Teacher Sch. Emp. Ret. Sys. of Mo.*, 174 S.W.3d 626, 638 (Mo. Ct. App. 2005) (statute of limitations begins to run at retirement, "unless the claimant knew or should have known from an event or circumstance that a clear repudiation of those benefits or rights has occurred."); *Bailey v. Shelby Cty.*, 2013 WL 2149734, *10 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2013) (finding statute of limitations began to run when employees were on reasonable notice of claims prior to retirement).

Federal courts have adopted a similar position in ERISA cases. While claims for pension benefits under ERISA generally do not accrue until a benefit is formally denied, there is an exception when an employer repudiates the employee's pension rights. *Lane*, 174 S.W. 3d at 637 (citing *Union Pacific R.R. Co. v. Beckham*, 138 F.3d 325, 330 (8th Cir. 1998)); *Miller v. Fortis Benefits Ins. Co.*, 475 F.3d 516, 522-23 (3d. Cir. 2007). In those cases, the cause of action accrues when the employee learned or reasonably should have learned of the repudiation. *Id.* This rule has been adopted to balance the rights of

both employees and employers. On the one hand, it would be burdensome and unfair to require lay employees to be constantly on alert for potential errors or abuses that might give rise to a claim. *Lane*, 174 S.W.3d at 637. On the other hand, permitting employees who know or should know they have not received contributions to wait years to bring their claim would defeat the purposes of the statute of limitations. *Id.* While ERISA does not apply to the Noncontributory Plan, the reasons underlying the repudiation exception are wholly consistent with the Board's decision. (R. at 739-740.)

Ostler does not acknowledge any of these authorities. Rather, he asserts the Board's decision contradicts other jurisdictions that hold a claim accrues at retirement. (Pet. Br. at 16.) However, only two of the cases he cites involved plaintiffs who waited to file a claim despite their apparent knowledge that they were ineligible or their employer had not made contributions. *See Cal. Teachers's Ass'n v. Governing Bd. of the Yosemite Cmty. Coll. Dist.*, 169 Ca. App.3d 35, 44 (Cal. Ct.. App. 1985) (holding teachers could bring claim five years after employer refused to make retroactive contributions to correct employer's misclassification was timely because claim accrued at retirement); *Wagner v. B.F. Goodrich Co.*, 1991 WL 184489, *1 (Ohio Ct. App. 1991) (holding plaintiff's claim did not accrue until retirement). The remaining authorities are not on point. They do not involve claims against an employer, but rather claims for benefits against the state pension fund that were, in some instances, brought too many years after retirement. *See Wash. Educ. Ass'n v. Wash. Dept. of Ret. Sys.*, 332 P.3d 439, 446 (Wash. 2014) (holding claims against state for repeal of cost of living increases were barred if they retired outside of the three-year limitation period); *Bordwine v. Okla.*

Firefighters Pension and Ret. Sys., 2004 OK CIV APP 75, ¶ 10, 99 P.3d 703 (holding plaintiff could not claim entitlement to pension benefits based on military service when he waited thirteen years after retirement to file suit); Williston on Contracts, § 79:14 (4th ed.) (“Three year statute of limitations for actions alleging a breach of state employee pension contracts begins to run at the time of retirement.” (citing *Wash. Educ. Ass’n*, 332 P.3d 439)).

Regardless *California Teachers* and *Wagner*, Ostler’s case demonstrates precisely why the Board’s rule is the better approach. Ostler has known since 2001 that SLCC did not make contributions on his behalf. And SLCC clearly repudiated any obligation to pay him benefits in its defense of that lawsuit. Yet Ostler waited more than a decade to ask for the Board’s help. Ostler’s assertion that his claim should not accrue until retirement creates an absurd result under which a litigant can be aware of all of the underlying facts but not have a claim until he decides he wants to have one, even if it is decades later.

4. The Third District Complaint Does Not Toll Accrual

Ostler’s final statute of limitations argument is that “the arguments that normally support time barring a claim are not present” in this case because Ostler previously asserted his claims. However, that is not an exception to the accrual rule or the enforcement of a statute of limitations, nor does Ostler explain why it should be. And Ostler does not challenge the Board’s holdings that neither the discovery rule nor the savings statute saves his claim by somehow tolling the limitations period for more than a decade. (R. 740.)

Furthermore, the arguments that support time-barring a claim are particularly strong here. SLCC already defended itself against Ostler’s claim. It had no reason to believe it would have to do it again a decade later—well after even the most generous limitations periods would have run. *See, e.g.,* Utah Code §§ 78B-2-307 (four years); 78B-2-309 (six years) (2016). Ostler made a legal mistake by filing his claim in the wrong forum. That error does not toll the running of the limitations period, and SLCC should not be required to bear the costs of Ostler’s mistake by re-litigating this stale claim. *See Russell Packard Dev., Inc. v. Carson*, 2005 UT 14, ¶ 20, 108 P.3d 741 (“Mere ignorance of the existence of a cause of action will neither prevent the running of the statute of limitations nor excuse a plaintiff’s failure to file a claim within the relevant statutory period.”); *S&G*, 913 P.2d at 741 n.6 (“[F]aulty legal assumptions do not toll the statute of limitations.”).

For these reasons, this Court should reject Ostler’s position and affirm the Board’s holding that Ostler’s claim is time barred because it accrued in 2001, at the latest, when Ostler learned SLCC had not made any retirement contributions for him.

II. OSTLER’S CLAIM IS BARRED BY THE DOCTRINE OF LACHES

The Board correctly held that any equitable claim for contributions is barred by laches. (R. at 740.) The doctrine of laches bars a claim when a claimant’s lack of diligence in bringing the claim causes injury to the defendant. *Fundamentalist Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints v. Lindberg*, 2010 UT 51, ¶ 27, 238 P.3d 1054. Both elements are present here.

1. Ostler Was Not Diligent in Seeking Relief from the Board

Ostler was not diligent in bringing his claim for contributions from SLCC. He suffered an actual and remediable legal injury in 2001 when he realized that SLCC had not made, and would not make, retirement contributions. He nevertheless did not ask the Board for relief until more than a decade passed and he discovered he would not be eligible for retirement unless he redeposited thousands of dollars.

Ostler asserts that this delay is excusable because the Third District Court dismissed his complaint even though it lacked jurisdiction to do so. In support of his argument, Ostler cites *SMP, Inc. v. Kirkman*, 843 P.2d 531, 533-34 (Utah Ct. App. 1992). (Pet. Br. 18). But that case held only that the prior adjudicating tribunal must have had subject matter jurisdiction for res judicata purposes. 843 P.2d at 533. It does not address laches or otherwise support Ostler's position that failed prior litigation excuses a delay in bringing a claim.

Moreover, Ostler's delay is not excused because the Retirement Act has long held that a claimant with a dispute should request relief from the Board Utah Code § 49-11-613 (2016; *id.* § 49-1-610 (1998)). Ostler was represented by counsel at the outset of the Third District case and could have filed his claim in the correct forum. Ostler likewise could have challenged the district court's authority before the Board at any time after the Third District Court dismissed his complaint. While *Ramsay v. Kane Cty. Human Resource Special Serv. Dist.* was not issued until 2014, it did not create new law but rather reiterated that, all along, Utah Code section 49-11-613 has required an employee to

file claims with the Board. 2014 UT 5, ¶ 11, 322 P.3d 1163. Ostler does not get to hit the reset button his claim because the court clarified the meaning of language.

2. Ostler's Delay Harmed SLCC

Ostler's delay has harmed SLCC. Under the Retirement Act, an employer may be liable for penalties and interest on late contributions. If SLCC were held liable for contributions, SLCC may be liable for more than two decades worth of penalties which could have been reduced or avoided. Ostler asserts that SLCC could have avoided these penalties by making these contributions. But that misses the whole point. SLCC had no rational reason to make the contributions because a district court had agreed no contributions were necessary. SLCC relied on the district court's holding and never anticipated that the same former employee deemed ineligible for benefits would bring the same claim for them more than a decade later. Moreover, in order to defend itself from Ostler's claim, SLCC will have to rely on facts from the 1990s. This will be particularly difficult considering that part of Ostler's claim is based on his allegation that he worked hours that were never reported in the first place. (R. at 423-429.) While SLCC may have been able to mount its defense during the Third District Suit, an additional decade has passed. Memories will have faded and witnesses may not be available. This is precisely the type of harm laches is meant to avoid.

The Board correctly held that Ostler delayed his claim to the detriment of SLCC. This Court should affirm the Board's holding that Ostler's claim is barred by laches.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, this Court should affirm the Board's holding that Ostler's claim accrued when he learned that SLCC would not make retirement contributions and it is therefore barred by the statute of limitations and doctrine of laches.

DATE this 6th day of September 2016.